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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

GENESTHER TAYLOR, No. 2:16-cv-00311-TLN-KJN
Plaintiff,
V. ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANT'’S
MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE
ADAMS & ASSOCIATES, INC., PLEADINGS
Defendant.

This matter is before the Court pursuant to Defendant Adams & Associates, Inc.’s
(“Defendant”) Motion for Judgment on the PleadingSCF No. 18.) Plaintiff Genesther Taylg
(“Plaintiff”) opposes the motion. (& No. 19.) Defendant has filed a reply. (ECF No. 20.)
the foregoing reasons, the Court hereby GR&NDefendant’'s Motion for Judgment on the
Pleadings (ECF No. 18).

l. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Plaintiff alleges she was hiréal 2008 as a Residential Advisor for Sacramento Job C
Center (“SJCC”). (ECF No. 18-1 | Plaintiff is an African-Ameican woman, over 40 years
age, who was diagnosed with epilepsy, diebeand fioromyalgia. (ECF No. 18-1 11 28, 41, «
49.) She alleges she was “an active membetti@{California Federation of Teachers Union
(“CFT”) and “served as the organization’s PresidenfECF No. 18-1 { 11.) Plaintiff alleges s

had no disciplinary history and had support andspr&iom supervisors. (ECF No. 18-1 1 10.)
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In February 2014, Defendant became the newagig corporation of SJCC. (ECF Ng.

18-1  12.) Plaintiff alleges Dendant announced it would reorgamiseveral job duties for son
positions, reduce the number of Residential Advisor positions, create a new Residential
Coordinator position, and evaluaad interview SJCC employees to continue in their positio
(ECF No. 18-1 11 13-14.) Plaintiff alleges sbepressed concerns that this process was not
being properly documented or described to [SJCC] employees.” (ECF No. 18-1 1 15.)

Plaintiff alleges that on February 25, 20%He received a phone call from Defendant
attempting to schedule an interview that dayCKBNo. 18-1 9 16.) Plaiiff alleges Defendant
interviewed her for approximately ten minutdsaring which she “dis@sed her educational
background and history with [SJCC] [and inf@@nDefendant] she wanted to maintain her
position as CFT President.” (ECF No. 18-19]) Plaintiff alleges she became concerned
Defendant “was excluding current [SJCC] employfees the interview process.” (ECF No. 1
19 17.) She alleges she “worked with sevetlaér employees in contacting Defendant [] to
schedule their interviews and keasure they were aware détails regarding the interview
process.” (ECF No. 18-1 1 18.)

Plaintiff alleges she receivedrejection letter in MarcB014, learned other employees
with “equal or lesser experiea were being hired for simil@udvisor positions,” and suspected

Defendant refused to hire her based on herrage, medical condition, and role in the CFT.

(ECF No. 18-1 11 20-23.) Plaintiff alleges shespad claims against Defendant “related to her

perceived retaliation as the President of CF[BACC] and was ultimately reinstated as of
February 23, 2015.” (ECF No. 18-1 1 24.) Rt alleges she has returned to work but
“continues to face ongoing discrimination based arnphetected status.” (ECF No. 18-1 | 25.
On November 25, 2015, Plaintiff filed a complaimthe Superior Gurt of Sacramento
County. (ECF No. 18-1 at 4.) Defendant answéhedcomplaint and then removed the case
this Court on the basis of diversity jurisdiction. (ECF No. 1-1 at 1, 27-36.) Defendant mo
judgment on the pleadings arguing Plaintiff fails to state a claim. (ECF No. 18 at 7.)
Plaintiff alleges claims for violations ofeélCalifornia Fair Employment and Housing A

(“FEHA”") and common law, including: (i) age anace discrimination in violation of California
2
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Government Code § 12940(a); (iisdbility discrimination in viation of California Governmer
Code § 12940(a); (iii) failure to hiia violation of public policy; (iv) retaliation in violation of
California Government Code § 12940(h); (v) failtweprevent discrimination in violation of
California Government Code 812940(k); (vi) failure to accommodate in violation of Califorr
Government Code § 12940(m); (vii) failure to engagthe interactive process in violation of
California Government Code § 12940(n), and; (witentional infliction of emotional distress.
(ECF No. 18-1 at 7-17.)

. STANDARD OF LAwW

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(c) prowsdga]fter the pleadings are closed — but
early enough not to delay trial — a party mayvador judgment on the pleadings.” Fed. R. G
P. 12(c). The issue presented by a Rule 12(c)omati substantially the se as that posed in a
12(b) motion — whether the factual allegationshef complaint, together with all reasonable
inferences, state a plausible claim for relisee Cafasso v. Gen. Dynamics C4,9aY F.3d
1047, 1054-1055 (9th Cir. 2011). “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads
factual content that allows the court to dra@ teasonable inference that the defendant is liaf
for the misconduct alleged Ashcroft v. 1gbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (citirgell Atl. Corp. v.
Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 556 (2007)).

In analyzing a 12(c) motion, the district cotmust accept all factliallegations in the

complaint as true and construe them in tgktimost favorable tthe non-moving party.”

Fleming v. Pickard581 F.3d 922, 925 (9th Cir. 2009). Neweless, a court “need not assume

the truth of legal conclusions casttie form of factual allegations.United States ex rel. Chun
v. Ringrose 788 F.2d 638, 643 n.2 (9th Cir. 1986). jtAlgment on the pleadings is properly
granted when, taking all the ajlgtions in the non-moving pargypleadings as true, the moving
party is entitled to judgment as a matter of laWéntress v. Japan Airline603 F.3d 676, 681
(9th Cir. 2010) (citations omitted).

A judgment on the pleadings is not appropriaitee Court “goes beyond the pleadings
resolve an issue; such a proceeding must prppertreated as a motion for summary judgme

Hal Roach Studios, Inc. v. Richard Feiner & C806 F.2d 1542, 1550 (9th Cir. 1989); Fed. R
3
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Civ. P. 12(d). A distat court may, however, “consider cart materials — documents attache
to the complaint, documents incorporated by refeean the complaint, or matters of judicial
notice — without converting the motion to digsi[or motion for judgment on the pleadings] i
a motion for summary judgmentUnited States v. Ritchi&@42 F.3d 903, 908 (9th Cir. 2003).
“While Rule 12(c) of the Federal Rules of Cilitocedure does not expsty provide for partial
judgment on the pleadings, neither does it bar syatocedure; it is common to apply Rule 12
to individual causes of action Strigliabotti v. Franklin Res., Inc398 F. Supp. 2d 1094, 1097
(N.D. Cal. 2005) (citindMoran v. Peralta Cmty. Coll. Dist825 F. Supp. 891, 893 (N.D. Cal.
1993)). Courts have the discretionappropriate cases to granRale 12(c) motion with leave t
amend, or to simply grant dismissal oé thction instead of entry of judgmer8ee Lonberg v.
City of Riverside300 F. Supp. 2d 942, 945 (C.D. Cal. 20@@rmen v. S.F. Unified Sch. Dist.
982 F. Supp. 1396, 1401 (N.D. Cal. 1997).

[I. ANALYSIS

Defendant argues Plaintiff faite plead sufficient facts teupport any of her claims.
(ECF No. 18 at 9.) The Coustll discuss each claim in turn.

A. Discrimination in Violation of Clifornia Government Code 8 12940(a)

Plaintiff alleges she was qualified and abje of performing her job duties, and
Defendants knew Plaintiff wan African-American woman, over 40 years of age, who was
diagnosed with epilepsy, diabetes, and fibraigiga (ECF No. 18-1 11 29, 41, & 50.) Defend
moves to dismiss Plaintiff's FEHA claims fdiscrimination on the basis of age, race, and
disability, arguing Plaintiff's pleadgs are conclusory and “boildgte.” (ECF No. 18 at 10.)
Plaintiff states generally all her claims atéficiently pleaded and the facts alleged “are
sufficient to support all of the caissef action.” (ECF No. 19 at 4-6.)

I. Age and Race Discrimination

FEHA prohibits an employer from discrinating against an employee becausags or
race CaL.Gov'T CODES 12940(a). To state a claim for discrimination under FEHA, a plair
must show: (i) she was a memloéia protected class; (ii) skeas performing competently in th

position she held; (iii)) she suffered an adverspleyment action; and (iv) the employer acted
4
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with a discriminatory motiveAyala v. Frito Lay, Ing.No. 116-CV-01705-DAD-SKO, 2017 W
2833401, at *7 (E.D. Cal. June 30, 2017) (cituayvler v. Montblanc N. Am., LLG04 F.3d
1235, 1242 (9th Cir. 2013%uz v. Bechtel Nat'l., Inc24 Cal. 4th 317, 355 (2000)). A plaintiff
can demonstrate discriminatory motive by showinipéo similarly situated employees outside
the protected class were treated more favgramlother circumstancesirrounding the adverse
employment action give rise to aference of discrimination.’Achal v. Gate Gourmet, Incl14
F. Supp. 3d 781, 800 (N.D. Cal. 2015).

Plaintiff alleges Defendant knew Plaintiff was a member of protected classes and re

to rehire her into a Residential Advisor positthre to her age and race, but hired others with

equal or less experience into similar Asiwi positions. (ECF No. 18-1 Y 21, 29-30, & 50-51.

Plaintiff's allegation Defendant ted because of her membershiyvarious protected classes iS
recitation of an elementSee Iqbal556 U.S. at 678. Plaintiff Banot alleged facts to support a
reasonable inference Defendant adiedausef her age or raceSee Ravel v. Hewlett-Packard
Enter., Inc, 228 F. Supp. 3d 1086, 1099 (E.D. Cal. 2017) (Agdhe plaintiff did not allege fac
rising to a plausible inference of age distnation, such as being replaced by a younger
employee, overhearing negative comments abajt@gher age being point of discussiaf);
McGinest v. GTE Serv. Cor®60 F.3d 1103, 1122 (9th Cir. 2004ip¢fing the plaintiff stated a
case for failure to promote by showing that rathean filling the position by promoting any of
the interviewees, [the employer] transferred a white manager into the position).

Plaintiff has not alleged facts sufficient to support the fourth element of her discrimi
claim, so the Court need not analyze theeoelements. Accordingly, the Court GRANTS
Defendant’s motion for judgment dine pleadings as to Plaintéfclaim for discrimination base
on race and color.

il. Disability Discrimination

FEHA prohibits an employer from discrimiiag against an employee because of the
employee’s disability. & .Gov'T CoDE§ 12940(a). To state a claim for disability
discrimination under FEHA, a plaintiff must shaehe (1) suffered frora disability, or was

regarded as suffering from a didékj (2) could perform the essealt duties of the job with or
5
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without reasonable acoonodations, and (3) was subjectec@itoadverse employment action
because of the disability perceived disability.”"Mohsin v. California Dep’t of Water Re#o.
213CVO01236TLNEFB, 2016 WK126721, at *4 (E.D. Cal. Aug. 3, 2016) (citiAtsup v. U.S.
Bancorp No. 2:14-CV-01515-KJM-DAD, 2015 WL 6163458, *4 (E.D. Cal. Oct. 2015)).
Plaintiff alleges Defendant kmeshe suffered from epilepsgiabetes, and fiboromyalgia,
and refused to rehire her as a Residenteligor “due to her medical condition,” knew the

conditions impacted her life, but she remainel@ &b perform the essential functions of her

position had Defendant provided her with reagde@ accommodation. (ECF No. 18-1 Y 37, 38,

41-42.) Plaintiff's allegations her conditions imgather life, she was able to perform essen
job functions with accommodation, and Defendahiged to hire her because of her medical
condition are recitations of elementSee Igbgl556 U.S. at 678. Plaintiffas not alleged facts
support a reasonable inference Defendant dxtedusef her disability. See Achall14 F.
Supp. 3d at 797-98 (finding the plaintiff's pleadimgs sufficient to infer pretext where the
plaintiff alleged the defendant claimed it fireim for causing his own disability, but the
defendant did not investigate the matter amddhwas no question asttee plaintiff's job
performance during his employment, eadter he returned from medical leave).

Plaintiff's allegations do not givese to a plausible inference that Defendant failed to
Plaintiff because of her memlséip in protected classeéchal 114 F. Supp. 3d at 798. Beca
Plaintiff has not alleged facts sufficient tgpport a plausible inference of a discriminatory

motive in relation to any of her discriminatiolaims, the Court need not analyze the other

elements. Accordingly, the Court GRANTS Ded@nt’s motion for judgment on the pleadings

as to Plaintiff's age, race, adisability discrimination claims.

B. Failure to Hire in Violation of Public Policy

Plaintiff alleges Defendant fatieto hire her in violation gbublic policy by rejecting her
application because of her “protected charasties, including her union membership.” (ECF
No. 18-1 7 62.) Defendant argues Plaintiff Srolaelated to her union &eity is preempted and
the remainder of her claim is conclusory and fails to allege sufficient facts to state a claim

failure to hire related to her age, racemedical condition. (ECF No. 18 at 11-12.)
6
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I. National Labor Relations Act (“NLRA”) Preemption

In cases which involve either an actual omaguable violation of either Section 7 or 8
the NLRA, both the states and the federal caunst defer to the “exclusive competence” of t
National Labor Relations Board (“NLRB”YCommc’ns Workers of Am. v. BedB7 U.S. 735,
742 (1988) (citingsan Diego Bldg. Trades Council v. Garm869 U.S. 236, 245 (1959)).
NLRA Section 7 protects employeeghts to join labor unions;ollectively bargain, and engag
in other activities for purposes of mutual akb U.S.C. 8§ 157. NLRA Section 8 prevents
employers from engaging in unfair labor practioesterfering with employees’ rights to join
labor unions and bargain collectiyel29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(1)-(3).

Plaintiff's claim for failure to hire baskon Plaintiff's active union membership, if

proven, would constitute a violatiaf the NLRA and is subject tGarmonpreemption.Clayton

v. Pepsi Cola Bottling GrpCiv. A. No. CV85-5957-WMB, 198WL 46230, at *7 n.1 (C.D. Cal.

Mar. 3, 1987). Plaintiff argues Defendant had multiple illegal reasons for firing heGaanmbn
preemption should not apply to hemtirewrongful termination claim, which includes allegatio
of public policy violations outside NLRBIjsirisdiction. (ECF No. 19 at 8-9) (citiri8alog v.
LRJV, Inc, 204 Cal. App. 3d 1295, 1308-09 (Ct. App. 1988h,/g denied and opinion modifieq
(Sept. 20, 1988) (holding a court retains juidn over wrongful termination claims based or
mixed motives, if some motives were not eveguably unrelated to unfiaiabor practices).

Plaintiff’'s claims for failure to hire badeon age, race, or medical condition, are not
arguably related to violations efther Section 7 or 8f NLRA, which protecunion activities.
The scheme of civil protection set out in FEHAhse type of interest “deeply rooted in local
feeling and responsibility” NLRA does notmleve the states of the power to act @ee Sears,
Roebuck & Co. v. San Diego Cty. Dist. Council of Carpent3€ U.S. 180, 196 (1978yarter
v. Smith Food King765 F.2d 916, 921 n.6 (9th Cir. 1985).

Accordingly, Plaintiff's claim for wrongful termination based on union membership i$

preempted by NLRA, but Plaintif’claim for wrongful terminatiom violation of public policy
regarding Plaintiff's age, race, nredical condition, is not preempted.
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il. Pleading Adequacy of Plainit$ Failure to Hire Claim
Defendant argues, to the ext&aintiff's failure to hireclaim is not preempted, it fails
because it is premised on deficient discriminatlamms. (ECF No. 18 at 11-12.) Plaintiff sta

the facts alleged “are sufficiettt support all of the causesaiftion.” (ECF No. 19 at 6.)

To state a claim for failure to hire based ospdrate treatment, a plaintiff must show (1

she belongs to a protected cla&y;she applied for and was qualified for the position she wa
denied; (3) she was rejected despite her qaatibns; and (4) the employer filled the position
with an employee not of the plaintiff's class,cantinued to considather applicants whose
gualifications were comparable to the plaintiff's after rejecting the plaifdiéiminguez-Curry v.
Nevada Transp. Dep'd24 F.3d 1027, 1037 (9th Cir. 2005).
Plaintiff has not alleged Defendant filledyapositions with employees who were not

members of the same protected class as Planatithas Plaintiff allegeBefendant continued to
consider other applicants whose qualificationseneomparable to Plaintiff’s after rejecting

Plaintiff. Because Plaintiff lsanot alleged facts sufficient snipport the fourth element of her

es

N—r

J7

failure to hire claim, the Court need not analifze other three elements. Accordingly, the Cqurt

GRANTS Defendant’s motion for judgent on the pleadings as to BI#T's failure to hire claim.

C. Retaliation in Violation of Calidrnia Government Code § 12940(h)

Plaintiff alleges she engaged in “such prtgdcactivities as being an African American
woman over the age of 40 diagnosed with varimeslical conditions” and being a representat
of “other Resident Advisors at [SICC] asTCFreseident.” (ECF & 18-1 1 71-72.) Plaintiff
alleges Defendant terminated her employment beaziubese alleged pretted activities. (EC
No. 18-1 11 71-72.) Defendant aeglPlaintiff failed to showausation between Plaintiff's
termination and any protected activity. (ECF W8.at 12—-13.) Plaintiff ates the facts alleged
“are sufficient to support all of the causes of action.” (ECF No. 19 at 6.)

To establish a claim for retaliation und&EHA Section 12940(h), plaintiff must show

“(1) he or she engaged in adpected activity,” (2) the employer subjected the employee to an

adverse employment action, and (3) a causal limdtexk between the protected activity and thg

employer’s action.”Yanowitz v. L’'Oreal USA, Inc36 Cal. 4th 1028, 1042 (200%)yala 2017
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WL 2833401, at *12. A “protected activity” uadSection 12940(h) means an employee
“opposed any practices forbidden unfleEHA] or . . . filed a complat, testified, or assisted in
any proceeding under [FEHA].” AC. Gov'T CoDE § 12940(h);,yanowitz 36 Cal. 4th at 1042.
Plaintiff does not allege sha@g@aged in any protected activiguch as opposing practice
forbidden under FEHA, filing a complaint, testifig, or assisting in any proceeding under FE}

Further, any claim for retaliation based on uractivities would be preepted by the NLRA and

subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of NLRB. d@&eise Plaintiff has not alleged facts sufficient to

support the first element of hetakation claim, the Court need not analyze the other elemer
Accordingly, the Court GRANTS Defendantisotion for judgment on the pleadings as to
Plaintiff's retaliation claim.

D. Failure to Prevent Discrimination Wiolation of California Government

Code § 12940(K)

Plaintiff alleges “Defendant failed to takall reasonable steps necessary’ to prevern
employees from engaging in discriminatiordnd “rejected her application based
discriminatory motives” even though Defendant “knef Plaintiff’'s prote¢ed characteristics ar
also knew Plaintiff planned to continue inrteareer with [SJCC].” (ECF No. 18-1 ¥ 81,
84.) Defendant argues FEHA’s Section 12940(k) dogégine litigantsa private cause of actic

for a stand-alone claim for failure to prevergatimination. (ECF No. 18 at 13-14.) Defend

cites the Fair Employment and HoogiCommission’s (“FEHC”) decision iim the Matter of the

Accusation of the Dep’t Fair Emp$ Hous. v. Lyddan Law Group (WilliamsfEHC Dec. No
10-04-P, at *12 (Oct. 19, 2010) (hatdj “there cannot be a claim [lyprivate litigant] for failure
to prevent discrimination withoua valid claim for discriminatn”). (ECF No. 18 at 13
Plaintiff states the facts alleged “are sufficiemtsupport all of the causes of action.” (ECF

19 at 6.) As discussed abowRlaintiff has not alleged factsufficient to state a claim fg

discrimination based on age, race, or medical itiomg so Plaintiff’'s derivéive claim for failure

t its
on
d
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to prevent discrimination fails. Accordinglthe Court GRANTS Defendant’s motion for

judgment on the pleadings as to PlaintifBgure to prevent discrimination claim.
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E. Failure to Accommodate in Violation of California Government Code &

12940(m)

Plaintiff alleges Defendant kmePlaintiff was “capable of performing her duties at wor

“despite her medical conditions,” and failedaccommodate her medical condition when
Defendant “unreasonably refused to hire’hdECF No. 18-1 1 92-93.) Defendant argues
Plaintiff does not allege sufficiefacts to support this claim, slu as whether and how Plaintiff
could perform essential job functions, wlatommodations were necessary, whether she
requested any accommodation, or that Defendantfel@eccommodate her. (ECF No. 18 at !
Plaintiff states the facts allegade sufficient. (ECF No. 19 at 6.)

To state a claim for failure to accommodatplantiff must show: (1she suffered from

disability covered by FEHA; (2) shwas otherwise qualified to dher job; and (3) the defendanit

failed to reasonably acconuaate her disabilityMohsin 2016 WL 4126721, at *4 (E.D. Cal.
Aug. 3, 2016)see alsalensen v. Wells Fargo Bargs Cal. App. 4th 245, 256 (2000). “To fag
liability under secton 12940(m), an employer must hdaen aware of the employee’s
disability.” Achal 114 F. Supp. 3d at 799 (citikgng v. United Parcel Serv., Incdlp2 Cal. App.
4th 426, 443 (2007). “An employee cannot demand clairvoyance of his empléyeg,’152
Cal. App. 4th at 443.

Plaintiff states Defendant waware of Plaintiff's medicalonditions. (ECF No. 18-1
92.) Plaintiff, however, has not alleged dagts to support her conclusion Defendant had
knowledge of her medical conditions. Becausenifahas not alleged facts sufficient to supp

a plausible inference Defendant was aware ofhiedical conditions, the Court need not analy

the other elements of Plaintiff's claim.céordingly, the Court GRANTS Defendant’s motion for

judgment on the pleadings as to Plaintiff's failure to accommodate claim.

F. Failure to Engage in the Interaati¥rocess in Violation of California

Government Code 8§ 12940(n)

Plaintiff alleges Defendant was aware of Riidi’'s medical conditbns involving epilepsy

diabetes, and fibromyalgia, “but failed to engaga timely, good-faith, interactive process with

her to determine effective reasonable accommaonstior her to fill her previous position as
10
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Resident Advisor.” (ECF No. 18-1 1 101.) Defemo@rgues Plaintiff does not allege sufficien
facts to support her claim, such as with whelme discussed her dislity or request for
accommodation, or the specific accommodation reqdegt€CF No. 18 at 15.) Plaintiff states
the facts alleged “are sufficiettt support all of the causesaiftion.” (ECF No. 19 at 6.)

“FEHA imposes on employers a mandatory olilmato engage in the interactive proce
once an employee requests an accommodationdartier disability, or when the employer
itself recognizes the need for oneAthal 114 F. Supp. 3d at 800. “Ordinarily, an employee
responsible for requesting accommodation foohiser disability, unless the employer itself
recognizes that an employee has a need for such accommodédicat.”799 (citingBrown v.
Lucky Stores246 F.3d 1182, 1188 (9th Cir.2001)).

Plaintiff states Defendant waware of Plaintiff’'s medicaonditions involving epilepsy,
diabetes, and fiboromyalgia. (ECF No. 18-1 { 1@laintiff, however, has not alleged any fact
to support her conclusion Defendant was awateoimedical conditions, her needs, or failed
engage in the interactive process. Acawgly, the Court GRANTS Defendant’s motion for
judgment on the pleadings as to Plaintiff's failtwmeengage in the faractive process claim.

G. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress

Plaintiff alleges Defendant knew Bfaintiff's protected charadtstics, but refused to hir

Plaintiff in favor of less qualifiedpplicants “with the intent to cause emotional distress or with

reckless disregard of the probability” of doing $8CF No. 18-1 1 107-08.) Defendant argu
Plaintiff's claim fails as a matter of law becausaiftiff's allegations with respect to intentiong
infliction of emotional distress relate to persdrmmanagement activitiesyhich cannot constituts
“extreme and outrageous conduet,fequired element of this claim. (ECF No. 18 at 16.)

To state a claim for intentional infliction emotional distress, @aintiff must show,
among other things, “extreme and outrageous conduct by the defendant with the intention
causing, or reckless disregard of the pholitst of causing, emotional distressHughes v. Pair
46 Cal. 4th 1035, 1050 (2009). Extreme and outrageous conduct must “exceed all bound
usually tolerated in a civilized communityltl. at 1050-51. “Whether a defendant’s conduct

reasonably be found to be [extreme and] outrag&oa question of law that must initially be
11
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determined by the court.Berkley v. Dowdsl52 Cal. App. 4th 518, 534 (2007).

“A simple pleading of personnel managemenivagtis insufficient to support a claim of
intentional infliction of emotional distressyen if improper motivation is allegedJanken v.
GM Hughes Electrs46 Cal. App. 4th 55, 80 (1996). “Manag personnel is not outrageous
conduct beyond the bounds of human decency, theraonduct essential to the welfare and
prosperity of society.”ld. Personnel management activity umbés, “hiring and firing, job or
project assignments, office or work station assignment, @iomor demotion, performance
evaluations, the provismof support, the assignment or n@signment of supervisory function
deciding who will and who will not attend ntees, deciding who will be laid off.’ld. at 64—65.

Plaintiff alleges Defendant faiieto hire her in favor of ks qualified applicants despite
Defendant’s knowledge of Plaintiff’'s “protected caeteristics.” (ECF Nal8-1 § 108.) Plaintifi
has not alleged any facts tlae outside Defendant’'s employment and supervisory duties. T
action Plaintiff does allege — making a hiringcdon — is an activity California courts have
expressly found constitutes personnel management actdatken46 Cal. App. 4th at 64—65.

Accordingly, the Court GRANTS Defendantisotion for judgment on the pleadings as
Plaintiff's intentional inflicton of emotional distress claim.

V. LEAVE TO AMEND

Courts have the discretion appropriate cases to grant ald®kli2(c) motion with leave to
amend, or to simply grant dismissal oé thction instead of entry of judgmer8ee Lonberg300
F. Supp. 2d at 94%;armen 982 F. Supp. at 1401. The Courhpat say that the pleading coulg
not possibly be cured by the akdion of other facts. Accartgly, the Court GRANTS Plaintiff
leave to amend the complaint within @8ys of the date of this Order.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendant’stigio to Dismiss (ECF No. 18) is hereby
GRANTED as to all clans with leave to amend within 3ays of the date of this Order.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated: September 29, 2017 ¥/B \ .=' ?/ LW
ARy |

12 Troy L. Nunle;} \
United States District Judge
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